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To Len and Dee, Who Taught Me to Stand Up




Wolves cull themselves, man. What other creature could? And is the race of man not more predacious yet? The way of the world is to bloom and to flower and die but in the affairs of men there is no waning and the noon of his expression signals the onset of night. His spirit is exhausted at the peak of its achievement. His meridian is at once his darkening and the evening of his day.


—CORMAC MCCARTHY,
Blood Meridian: Or the Evening Redness in the West
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“I Can’t Believe They
Killed My Family”
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Night descends like grace on the Arizona desert. It endows the landscape, and everything in it, with dark cool relief from the relentless, suffocating heat of the daytime. Things are different in the winter, when everything is colder, but by late spring in Arizona, the dusk becomes a respite and a refuge for the people and the creatures who live here.


But nightfall does not always bring peace. The daytime desert heat often boils tempers, but it is after dark that Arizona police often find themselves the busiest, as though the setting sun releases all the bad feeling and bad luck that has built up during the day, expiating it in violence.


The people who work as dispatchers in Arizona’s law enforcement offices know all about this phenomenon. In the wintertime, when the days are cooler and not as oppressive—and the nights decidedly colder—they see little difference, but by late spring in Arizona, crimes become a common part of nighttime duty.


Tanya Remsburg had worked a lot of nights. In her twenties, she is tall and slender, good at her job. In the late spring of 2009, she was doing what she had done for two and a half years for the dispatchers in the Pima County Sheriff’s Office in Tucson: taking emergency 911 calls. In Pima County alone, dispatchers handle about five hundred calls a day. Over the years, Remsburg had processed thousands of calls for help—so many that sometimes they all blurred together.


Except for one: the call that came after midnight in the first hour of May 30, 2009.


Mostly it had been an ordinary night. A couple of car crashes—no fatalities. A bar fight. A convenience-store robbery. It had been a long day. Tanya was ready to call it a night. She was scheduled to clock out at 1 a.m.


And then came the call at 12:49 a.m. The board indicated that it originated in Arivaca, a little desert town twelve miles north of the Mexico border and just over an hour’s drive south and west from Tucson.


“911, where is your emergency?”


It was a soft, meek woman’s voice.


“Ma’am,” she said, in the twangy patois of local rural Arizonans, “somebody just come in and shot my daughter and my husband.”


“They shot them?” Tanya Remsburg sat up straight and began typing into her computer system, alerting her coworkers and deputies. Upon seeing her messages, the office’s dispatchers began scrambling.


“Yes. I need emergency right away.”


“What’s your address?”


The woman gave her an address on Mesquite Place in Arivaca, and Remsburg typed it into the computer and kept typing, clacking the keys loudly. The dispatchers, reading as she typed, had meanwhile contacted deputies at the sheriff’s satellite station in Green Valley, about thirty miles south of Tucson. It was the closest station to Arivaca, but getting there would take time, since the town was yet another thirty miles away.


“And your phone number? Stay on the line with me—they’re dispatching as we speak, OK? What’s your number?”


The caller read her number aloud, and Remsburg typed that too.


“And they shot your husband and your daughter? Are they, are they—conscious?”


The woman gave a little sob. “Please, please, ma’am, please. She’s bleeding out of her mouth. Please.”


“How old is your daughter?”


“She’s ten.”


“Ten. And where, where were they shot?”


“In the head. In the head. Should I pick her up so she’s not bleeding?”


“No, no, I want you to leave her where she is, OK? What I’m gonna do—”


Suddenly there were other voices in the background. Someone—a woman’s voice, but not the woman’s on the phone—said, “Oh, shit!” Then she shouted something else indistinguishable.


Now Remsburg was alarmed. “Are they still there? The people who were there, that shot them?”


The woman was panicked. “They’re coming back in! They’re coming back in!”


“Do you know who they are?”


There was no answer. Instead, the popping sound of gunfire erupted over the line. It went on for another minute or so. Somewhere amid the shots and the shouting, there was a man’s voice too. Remsburg could hear the caller cursing: “Fucking assholes! Get the fuck out of here! You’ve done enough!” Then there were more gunshots.


Eventually, the gunfire subsided, and Remsburg could hear the woman pick the phone back up.


“Are you still there? Are you OK?”


“Ma’am, I don’t know. I’m scared.”


“OK.” Remsburg was thinking hard, trying to collect her own wits and reassure the woman on the other end. She had never had to handle a call like this.


“I’m scared,” the woman repeated in her meek voice.


“OK. How, how many people were there?”


“I don’t know, ma’am. They—I was asleep, and I can’t even move. I’ve been shot myself. I don’t even—”


“OK, where were you shot?”


“I think I’m shot in the leg. I’m not sure, ma’am.”


“OK.” Remsburg entered that data into her computer, and her fellow dispatchers now began alerting medical authorities. Somewhere in Green Valley, an ambulance crew was summoned.


“Please hurry,” the woman pleaded.


“Are you armed?”


“Yeah.”


“OK. They’re coming—lights and sirens, OK? They are coming.” It was getting on five minutes now.


“Ma’am, please hurry.”


“And you—did you see any of them?”


“No, I didn’t. I just got up, ma’am, because they told us that the—they told us that somebody was, uh, had escaped jail or something, they want to come in and look at my house. And they just shot my husband. And they shot my daughter. And they shot me.”


“OK.” They both grew quiet, and in the silence, the horror started to sink in.


“Oh my God, ma’am,” the woman sobbed.


“OK, just—”


“I can’t believe this is happening.”


“Yeah, they are coming, OK? You said that they—they told your husband that they wanted to come in ’cause there was, uh, an escaped person?”


“Yes. And that the whole party was surrounded—I’m sorry, that the whole property was surrounded, with Border Patrol and everything.”


On the other end, the caller moaned in pain. “Ow—fuck, my leg is killing me, ma’am,” she pleaded. “How long is it gonna take them to get here?”


It seemed as if it took forever, though in truth it was only another fifteen minutes or so before law enforcement officers arrived on the scene—a pretty reasonable time, considering the distances they had to cover and the winding nature of the desert roads en route. But for Tanya Remsburg and the wounded caller, it felt like an eternity. Every second seemed important, weighty. And they added up.


Remsburg kept the woman on the phone talking. She gathered more details—what kind of gun the caller had, descriptions of the killers—and tried to help her stay calm.


“Oh my God,” the caller said at one point, as it all started to sink in. “I can’t believe they killed my family.”


Remsburg struggled to keep her own emotions in check. She asked the woman bland questions, like where in the house she was located.


“I’m in the kitchen right here just staring at the door.”


“Are you with your—are you with your husband and your daughter?”


“No. I don’t even want to look at them, ma’am.”


Remsburg changed the subject to the killers, trying to gather information. The woman described a total of three people she had seen and a fourth she had heard. The two who had carried out the shootings were a “super tall” male in black face paint and “a shorter fat woman.” They wore camouflage. And they were both white. The other two men, she said, were “Mexicans” who spoke Spanish to each other and came in later, while her home was being ransacked.


“And I have one of their guns that they fucking left here.”


“OK, don’t touch that. OK, do not touch that.”


“OK. I’m sorry I’m cussing.”


Remsburg almost wanted to laugh: the woman was unfailingly polite. “No, no. You’re fine.” There was a little sob on the other end. “Hon, you’re fine. Don’t worry. It’s fine. Just don’t worry about your cussing.”


The woman gave more details. The tall man, she said, had done the actual shooting of the three of them: “Yeah, he had shot me, and I pretended like I was dead. And my daughter was crying when they shot her too.”


Inevitably they would fall silent as Remsburg transcribed the information, and in those moments the wait felt interminable. Remsburg tried to reassure her. “OK, they are coming—lights and sirens. They have units in the area, OK? But I want you to stay on the line with me until they have someone with you.” She knew that deputies were speeding as fast as they could, but the road to Arivaca is narrow and winding, and even the fastest cars can only go so fast on it.


Remsburg realized there was important information still to gather and tried to fathom why someone might attempt a home-invasion robbery that far into the desert and in a poor little town like Arivaca, where there are very few people with any wealth. “Now, do you—I mean, was there any, like, drugs involved? Or are they just looking for money? What were they, do you know?”


“I couldn’t tell. She just said hurry up and get what we need. But I mean—we don’t have any drugs or anything like that in this house.”


“OK. Do you think maybe it was a mistake? Do any of your neighbors have anything?”


“I don’t know.”


“OK.”


The woman kept complaining about her pain, telling her how badly her leg hurt. Eventually she said: “I’ve got to lay down, ma’am. I’m sorry.”


“OK. That’s fine, lay down but take the phone with you, OK? Keep me on the line. So you can keep me updated on how you’re doing. Is your, your daughter still crying?”


“No. She’s—I think she’s gone now.”


“OK.”


And so they talked. They talked about what happened, and again the woman described how two people, one of them in black face paint, came up to her door and demanded to be let in, and then, when her husband noticed something not right about them—there was tape on one of their guns—the “tall man” simply turned and shot him. And then shot her. She lay on the floor and pretended to be dead while their daughter cried and asked the killers why they had shot her parents and pleaded with them not to shoot her. And then they shot her, too.


About ten minutes into the call the woman’s voice became low and quiet and slow; she was beginning to lose consciousness. This was dangerous: if she blacked out, they might lose her to shock from blood loss. So Remsburg kept talking to her—about anything: getting her to talk about what had just happened, trying to get her to describe the assailants. Remsburg grew concerned momentarily that the woman wanted to die with her family.


“You’re not doing anything, you’re not going to do anything drastic, are you?” Remsburg asked worriedly.


“Like what?”


“Like hurt yourself.”


“I have another daughter.”


“OK. And she’s not there, right?”


“No, she actually spent the night at my mom’s house, thank God.”


Her words were becoming slurred and her voice heavy. Remsburg kept her talking, though, for another eight minutes, getting her to describe the property—it was out near the end of a rural road, not far from the Arivaca Community Center, so it was simple to find but distant—and the fence around it so deputies would identify it more quickly.


Finally, the woman told her: “I hear cars driving back and forth.”


“Does it sound like they’re speeding?”


“Yeah.”


“OK, we do have units there. Keep on the line, OK, until there’s someone with you.”


“You sure it’s them?”


“I’m sure it’s them. My dispatcher just told me that someone’s there now. And they have Border Patrol with them, OK?”


“OK.”


Remsburg advised her to push the gun away from her, but it wasn’t clear if the woman heard. But soon there were male voices from somewhere in the room, and the woman was no longer listening to her. She was talking to officers: “I’m here in the kitchen on 911, sir. I’m right here. And there’s a gun.”


Remsburg could hear more voices. “Is he with you?” she asked.


“Yeah, he’s with me.”


“OK, I’ll let you go.”


“OK.”


“All right, bye-bye.”


Tanya Remsburg wound up testifying three times in three separate trials about that night, reliving it each time. But she has refused to ever discuss it publicly. Two years afterward, she would leave the employ of Pima County, undone by that single call.


||


Brisenia Flores loved animals, which was why she was sleeping in the living room that night.


All of her friends at her elementary school in Amado, twenty-two miles away on that same winding road into Arivaca, knew Brisenia was crazy about animals. All kinds: domestic, wild, exotic animals. She did reports on them. Talked about them all the time. Drew pictures of them.


Of course, since she lived out in the Arizona desert, she was familiar with nearly all the wild creatures who made it their home: the birds, the deer, the fish who lived in the nearby lake, the javelinas and cougars and bobcats and grey foxes who lived in the nearby mountains. She even liked the small creatures like the tiny lizards who skittered across her yard and the desert landscape wherever she walked. Her teachers were impressed with her broad array of knowledge and tried to encourage it.


But she also liked domestic animals. Her dad owned a couple of horses and kept them on their property, and she liked to feed them and water them and sometimes ride them. She kept a virtual menagerie in her home, too. She had a cage with guinea pigs, a couple of cats—who liked to play on the big cat gym her parents had bought that was in the living room—some rabbits, and two dogs, including a new puppy she had gotten the month before.


There was also a terrarium with turtles in it, but those belonged to her mother, Gina, who loved animals too. Her big sister, Alexandra—two years her senior—liked animals but nothing like Brisenia, who was practically obsessive about them. She was naturally empathic: one of those rare people who could feel what animals felt and respond in kind. At times it made everyone around her a little exasperated, but that was just Brisenia, because she was the same way with people. People who love well are well loved.


School had just let out the previous Wednesday. Summers in Arizona can be painfully boring for kids, especially for those living in the rural desert, because the intense heat forces them to spend much of their days inside—making someone like Brisenia, who longed for time out of doors, restless as a caged badger.


So Gina had signed Brisenia and Alexandra up for the summer camp at the Arivaca Community Center just down at the other end of Mesquite Road from their home, a place where Brisenia spent her afternoons every day anyway and where all her Arivaca friends would be too. But that only lasted a couple of weeks, so she signed both girls up for summer school as well, which meant that in a few weeks they would resume their regular routine of riding the school bus in the morning out to school in Amado to spend the day and riding it back in the afternoon.


Alexandra was lucky: she had gotten to kick-start her vacation on Thursday, because Gina’s mother, Romy, had driven down from the Green Valley area to Arivaca to visit her daughter and grandkids, and she took Alexandra back into town with her.


Brisenia was a little jealous. So Gina—who would have to drive into Tucson on Friday anyway to pick up Alexandra—consoled her by promising to take her to town and buy her some new shoes. Brisenia was growing fast, and her toes were already touching the ends of her favorite tennies, so it was something they needed to do before camp started on Monday.


Friday, May 29, turned out to be a busy day. Gina started her day by cleaning out the girls’ rooms. Brisenia was fond of letting the dogs, especially her new puppy, sleep on her bed with her, and the bedding smelled of dog. She ran it all through the wash and cleaned the room, vowing not to let the dogs sleep in there any longer, beginning that night.


Gina had lost her big ring of car keys the day before, sometime around when she came back home from taking a CPR class at the community center. So she and Brisenia spent the late morning searching for them, particularly out in the front yard, around the girls’ trampoline, where she had first been after getting home the day before.


She was out near their fence along Mesquite Road, and around noon, while she and Brisenia were searching, an aqua-colored Chevy Astro van with tinted windows came driving along the gravel-and-dirt road very slowly. The van had driven up from the south, on Hardscrabble Road, where hardly anyone ever went. Gina looked up at it, curious.


It was unusual to see much of anyone out here in the quiet desert in the middle of the day, especially in a vehicle she had never seen before. She thought to herself that they must be lost. It happened every now and then that tourists would take the wrong turns and wind up out here. Inside the van, it seemed to her, the two occupants she could see in the front—a man and a woman—were talking about her. She waved at them, and they waved back. She then turned back to finding her keys. The van drove on up Mesquite Road and disappeared in a little cloud of dust. Gina didn’t think about it any more.


She eventually gave up looking for her keys, and at around one p.m., Gina and her husband, Junior—his full name was Raul Flores Junior, and he had grown up in Arivaca, where everybody just called him by his nickname—packed up Brisenia in their black Suburban and drove into Tucson. Gina tried calling Romy to find out when they could pick up Alexandra, but Romy had gone with her husband and granddaughter to Madera Canyon—a scenic day-hiking area in the Coronado National Forest—and couldn’t be reached.


So the three of them went shopping at a Tucson mall, and Brisenia picked out a new pair of tennies to kick around in. Gina had a bit of banking to do too: the family had driven out to Disneyland the month before, and she needed to pay off her credit card, so she withdrew about $3,000 in cash, with the intention of making it into a money order to send to her card company. She tucked the cash into a side pocket of her big cloth purse.


They finally got a hold of Romy, who was still up at Madera Canyon and would not be back in time for Gina and Junior to pick up either Alexandra or Gina’s younger sister, who wanted to come out and spend the weekend in Arivaca with her sister and nieces, as originally planned. But Romy and her husband, Alex, promised to drive them all out to Arivaca in the morning. Gina agreed, and the three of them—Junior, Gina, and Brisenia—hopped back into the Suburban and headed home.


When they got home, night had fallen, and it was time for Brisenia to go to bed. Gina informed her that the dogs could not sleep with her anymore. But her new little puppy would miss her, Brisenia said. Well, Gina told her, you can sleep on the couch with your puppy tonight so he can adjust. Brisenia readily agreed, and they got out a blanket and a pillow, and she snuggled up with the dog on the little love seat in the living room.


Gina was tired and turned in shortly thereafter. Junior stayed up watching a movie on the TV in their bedroom.


||


Arivaca is only twelve miles from the Mexican border, and the Altar Valley in which it sits, nestled in between Baboquivari Peak and the Cerro Colorado Mountains, has been a natural corridor for immigrants, both human and animal, traveling between what is now the United States and Mexico for centuries.


This means that, for the past twenty years, it has become increasingly used as a corridor for immigrants crossing illegally into the United States from Mexico. Often traveling at night, they use natural trails through the mountainous and generally treacherous terrain, which is laced with a variety of hostilities: thorny ocotillos and acacia, capable of ripping the flesh off your body, and the usual varieties of spiny cactuses, including a brushy species of cholla whose spines seem to actually jump off the plants and into your skin. Then there are the banditos and human traffickers who are known to waylay border crossers, and most of all the Border Patrol, with their electronic sensors and helicopters and tracking dogs and horse trackers.


In more recent years, Arivaca has attracted a new kind of hostility: border-watch vigilantes, people calling themselves Minutemen, angry American citizens who see the immigrants as invading enemies and whose activities are intended to send a message to the federal government demanding “border security.” Most of the Minutemen are simply angry and bellicose, and they want something done about illegal immigration, so they organize, participate, and, most of all, ceaselessly promote themselves in watches along various stretches of the border, intending to catch stray border crossers.


Most of them know their efforts are just a finger in the dike, but they see their watches above all as a way to make a statement, to send a message to bureaucrats in Washington that they want action. Some, however, take the watches even more seriously. They see vigilante action as part of a real solution. And some of these talk cryptically about “taking it to the next level.”


For people who have lived in Arivaca a long time, this kind of talk seems alien. Border crossers have been part of their lives for years. The situation had become more tense in the past ten years or so, when the feds shut down former key entry points in well-known border towns like Nogales, which had offered reasonably easy passage without having to resort to crossing in unguarded rural areas; after the shutdown, those rural areas became the primary route for immigrant workers. As the crow flies, Nogales and the Altar Valley in which Arivaca sits are only a few miles distant, but in between them is a maze of “sky islands”—ranges of high mountains like the Cerro Colorado and the Mustang and Tumacácori Mountains. These obstacles have forced immigrants attempting the border crossing to traverse the desert wastes in between, all of which funnel the trekkers into the Altar Valley.


Nowadays, though, people in Arivaca say that wandering border crossers were a much more common sight a decade ago. In the past couple of years, as the Border Patrol has intensified its presence in response to the debate over illegal immigration, much of that traffic has gone away. There are probably three times as many Patrol officers in the valley now, and you cannot drive the twenty-three miles from Amado into Arivaca without encountering at least a dozen of the agency’s vehicles, which not only prowl the highway but sit in pullouts and keep watch for border crossers.


It doesn’t mean the border crossers have gone away; rather, they have simply become more surreptitious. Often they do their trekking at night. And it means they do a lot of their travel in dry washes—the streambeds that weave throughout the Altar Valley, providing a pathway for the waters that occasionally flood across the valley when it gets its seasonal downpours. On the drive out to Arivaca, the highway is dotted with signs warning when you’re about to cross one of these washes, accompanied by a dip in the roadway: “Do Not Drive When Flooded.”


A dry wash runs directly behind the Flores-Gonzalez family home, cutting a diagonal slash across its acreage. Indeed, the Border Patrol had paid a couple of late-night visits to the Flores-Gonzalez home in the past as agents pursued suspected border crossers up their wash, but the visits had entailed polite visits by agents seeking permission to access the dry streambed behind their house.


That may have been why one of the first law enforcement agents to arrive at the home in the early morning hours of May 30, and the first to administer help to Gina Gonzalez, was a Border Patrol officer named Don Williams. Sheriff’s deputies had been called out first, but they were much farther from Arivaca—and perhaps just as importantly, they did not understand exactly where they were going. The Flores-Gonzalez home was located in a small rural neighborhood consisting of some forty houses on five- to ten-acre lots, spread out on a long rectangular grid about a mile northeast of the town proper. Confusion about how to get there, for those unfamiliar with the area, was common.


Williams is normally employed by the Border Patrol as a horse tracker, but he had the midnight shift that night, which meant staying off his mount and sitting inside a pickup along the roadside, keeping an eye out for border crossers wandering up the washes. The spot where he was stationed that night—at the milepost marking seven miles’ distance from Arivaca—was right next to such a wash, so it was a good place to mount a watch.


Then, at about one a.m., came the alarm from the Pima County Sheriff’s dispatcher: a double homicide on Mesquite Road. Williams promptly fired up the pickup and sped as fast he could down the winding country road toward Arivaca. As he approached the end of Mesquite Road, he could see a sheriff’s deputy pull up from the other direction and park in front of the Flores-Gonzalez home with flashing lights blazing.


Gina Gonzalez’s seemingly interminable wait for help was over.


When Williams and the deputy entered the home together, the first thing they saw was Junior Flores on the living room couch. He at first looked as if he were dozing—he was sitting back on the couch, and his right arm was slightly raised, as though he had fallen asleep with a beer in his hand—but the blood streaming from his chest and head from obvious gunshot wounds quickly erased that illusion. He was not breathing.


The next thing they saw was Brisenia, lying on the love seat a few feet away, and there were no illusions about her condition: Her limbs were oddly akimbo, and whoever shot her had made a bloody mess of her little face.


In the kitchen, just out of view, Gina was talking to them, telling them she was there. Williams went in to help her, cautiously at first, while the sheriff’s deputy worked his way down the hallway to the bedrooms to see whether anyone else was still in the house. Gina had kicked her husband’s .40-caliber handgun away from her body, and Williams pushed it further away, into the entrance to the dining area, and then knelt down to see what he could do.


Gina was bleeding profusely from the wound in her leg, and part of her femur was protruding from the wound. She had another wound in her chest, but it was not draining out as badly. Williams was not trained in emergency first aid, however, and knew he might harm the woman if he tried to do too much, so he gave her a towel, attempted to help her slow the bleeding, and talked to her to try to comfort her. She tried telling him what had happened, but none of it made a lot of sense.


In a little while—Williams said it seemed as if it “was not too long,” though time, or at least the memory of it, is always distorted in events like this—emergency medical technicians from Green Valley arrived on the scene and began giving Gina proper care. Williams backed out of the room and began doing what he could to help the deputies with securing the crime scene. Someone said that there was supposed to be another daughter in the house, so he and another deputy went out the back door to see if they could find her. They didn’t, of course—but they did find a set of fresh footprints from an adult, and so Williams did what he’s best at: tracking. He followed the prints down into the wash behind the house and then down the streambed until it intersected with the road a little further away. The prints disappeared where they intersected with a fresh set of tire tracks.


In the house’s front yard and in the roadway, detectives had made an even more significant discovery: fresh blood spots, trailing out of the house and then ending at the road. Deputies placed orange markers next to them so that arriving reinforcements would be aware there was evidence. They also found a silver revolver, fully loaded and unfired, next to the fence.


Deputies found Gina’s purse in the master bedroom, its contents dumped across the bed. Whoever had searched it had not been very thorough: Gina’s $3,000 in cash was still tucked in the side pocket. If these killers were thieves, they were not competent.


The EMTs patched Gina Gonzalez up as well as they could, hauled her out to the ambulance, and whisked her away into Arivaca. From there a helicopter airlifted her in about thirty minutes to the regional hospital in Tucson.


||


Pima County detectives had spent the whole night and all of Saturday combing through the Flores-Gonzalez home and gathering evidence. They had heard from local sources that Junior Flores was involved in the drug-smuggling business, but there was no sign of that in the home. It soon became clear that Gina Gonzalez held the most important clues to the mystery of who had invaded their home and killed Brisenia and Junior. So a team of detectives, led by Charles Garcia, went to her room at University Medical Center to see what they could find out.


Doctors were still busy treating her, but she was conscious enough to talk. Piling atop the massive trauma Gina Gonzalez had suffered the night before—losing her husband and daughter and being badly wounded herself—doctors had informed her that she might lose her right leg too. They were going to operate and try to save it, but the gunshot had shattered her femur, and they warned her there was a chance they would have to amputate.


At first only Detective Garcia talked to her, and he collected a few simple facts that basically reiterated what she had told Tanya Remsburg. The only thing they cleared up, really, was the matter of Brisenia’s age: Gina had mistakenly told the dispatcher her daughter was ten years old because she was only a few months away from that momentous birthday, but in truth she was still nine when she was killed.


Garcia also tried to probe into possible motives for the killers and wondered if Junior was involved in anything local that might get him in trouble—hinting, perhaps, at the marijuana trade that was common in Arivaca. Gina denied it. She explained: “My husband smokes pot. But that’s probably all you’ll find. I think he had, like, a little sack of weed that he just had for personal use.”


The doctors interrupted: they were still busy working on her, and the interview became necessarily short. The detective left, and the doctors went back to their work, but they promised he could come back and interview her when they were done.


When Garcia returned, he brought with him the rest of the team: detectives Jill Murphy and Robert Svec. When Gina saw the guns on the hips of the two Caucasian detectives who came into her room accompanying Garcia, she froze. The two white people who had invaded her home and shot them had pretended to be law enforcement officers, too, and she feared—not altogether irrationally—that it was about to happen again.


Murphy and Svec saw the terrified look on her face, and it was clear something was wrong. The ensuing interview was terse, tense, and ultimately quite brief. Mostly what Gina could tell them was what she had already told the dispatcher.


But there was one new detail: As she was curled up on the floor in a fetal position, pretending to be dead, she had heard someone—two men, actually—speaking Spanish in the kitchen. And after the man who had come in the house the second time and tried to shoot her, while she was on the phone with the county dispatcher, had fled, she had seen a “Mexican” man poke his head around the corner of the front door to peek in.


“And he looked at me,” she told them, “and he said, ‘Oh shit.’ And he ran back out. I didn’t get a good look at him. But I know he was dressed all in green.”


This caught the detective’s attention: “He was dressed how?”


“All in green. Like a Border Patrol officer.”


This was the man, she told them, at whom she had cursed, telling him to “get the fuck out of here.” She told them she had fired shots in his direction, too.


“Am I gonna get in trouble for that?” she fretted.


“No. No. No. No,” Garcia reassured her.


Doctors shortly cleared them all out of the room and took Gina in for surgery.


Fortunately, the hospital’s skilled surgeons were able to save Gina’s leg. They replaced her femur with a titanium rod, sewed her up, and prepared her for what would be the long process of recovery. She remained mostly unconscious for the rest of the day, and doctors ordered rest for her on Sunday as well. The detectives would have to wait.


On Monday morning, Garcia returned without his two colleagues. Gina was more alert and feeling somewhat better. And she wound up giving him the clues that would indeed crack the case wide open.


Garcia began with a photo lineup of potential suspects, focusing on the “short fat white woman” Gina had described several times as the apparent leader of the home-invasion operation. He showed her photos of six different women. Gina was unsure whether any of them were right—one of them was a friend she recognized, and she was certain it wasn’t her—and ultimately she narrowed it down to three possible suspects. The problem, she said, was that the hair color wasn’t right for any of them.


They went through a number of possibilities—a few people Junior might have had a conflict with; the “weirdo” neighbor who hated Latinos and was fond of pointing a gun at them when they were near his property; the woman Gina had gotten into a fight with at the Arivaca Mercantile, where she had worked for a number of years. All these appeared to be dead ends.


Then she mentioned the teal-colored Chevy Astro van that had driven by slowly on Friday. This caught Garcia’s attention. Gina described it in some detail and told Garcia that the people inside seemed to be talking about her.


Garcia wrapped it all up around twelve thirty, and began putting away his recorder and notebook to walk out of the room, when Gina stopped him: she had remembered something else.


“The only person my husband had been arguing with was Albert,” she said. “I’m not completely sure of his last name.” She told them she thought it might be Sanchez.


Albert, she explained, was related to her own godmother and had been a friend of theirs for a while. Junior and Albert had been close, and the two girls adored him and treated him like an uncle. Sometimes he would pick up the girls at the community center and bring them home if Gina and Junior were busy. They all got a beer together at the tavern in Arivaca once in a while. Albert would come to their home and hang out and eat dinner with them.


But Albert had begun getting on Gina’s nerves. He would come in the house and open the fridge and help himself to the beers and sodas without asking or go to the cupboard and get out a new bag of chips and open them and begin munching. When she had complained to Junior about Albert’s boorish behavior, her husband’s demeanor had darkened. Albert, he had told her, was not the nice person they all thought he was.


Friends in town gave her the same warning: “Albert’s not all there, and he’s not a good person, and we kinda started hearing that he was on drugs,” she told Garcia. “My husband didn’t want nothing to do with that.”


It all came to a head, Gina said, when Junior caught Albert stashing marijuana on the property adjacent to their acreage where they had begun building a new, nicer home. One night, she said, they had seen him drive by in his brown-and-white Chevy Blazer, and Gina had heard him picking up something down at the property and then slamming the door to the vehicle and driving off.


About three weeks earlier, she told Garcia, Junior and Albert had come to blows over it. Albert had driven by their home on his little four-wheeler, and Junior had accosted him in the road and confronted him. The argument turned hot, and Junior had decked Albert, knocking him off the motorbike. When he had gotten back up, Albert had reached inside his toolbox for a gun, so Junior walked back into his home to defuse the situation. Albert eventually just drove off. But the bad blood was bubbling. Soon everyone in town knew that Junior and Albert were feuding.


“Everyone knew,” Gina said. “Junior thought that he was a piece of shit.”


And she agreed. “I mean, I saw with my own eyes him doing that in the [Blazer]. You know, and I’m, like, I have kids. And you’re putting that over there. And people already talk crap about Junior, you know? And if that’s over there, nobody’s gonna believe that’s not Junior’s.”
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These were substantial clues to the mystery, and the Pima County detectives wasted no time following up on them. They quickly determined that the man Gina was describing was an Arivacan named Albert Gaxiola. As it happened, they had received another tip: there had been a commotion at about two a.m., mostly involving a car that wouldn’t start, outside a house in town rented by Gaxiola.


He lived in a duplex in the town proper, a couple of blocks off the highway. A team of detectives and sheriff’s deputies in police cars pulled up to the place Monday afternoon.


Sitting parked in front of the home was a teal-colored Chevy Astro van.


Detective Jill Murphy went over to the van and inspected it. She saw a speck of something red on the post between the passenger door and the sliding rear door. And when she looked through the window, she could see a large red stain on the carpet below the front passenger seat that appeared to be blood.


Meanwhile, Juan Carlos Navarro—the lead detective in the case and the man overseeing the team—knocked on the door and was greeted by a cleanshaven, neatly groomed Latino man who was in fact Albert Gaxiola. He was smooth, seemingly unperturbed by the arrival of a caravan of cops at his front door, and invited them in.


Gaxiola’s home was clean and neatly appointed, with a nice TV and computer and a tasteful assortment of decorations and furniture. There were also a lot of guns in the place.


In short order, the detectives uncovered an AK-47 in a closet and a shotgun, stashed inside a bureau, with one emptied shell in the chamber. There were also a few handguns and lots of ammunition.


These could have belonged to anyone living in Arivaca, since guns are a common part of the rural Arizona lifestyle. But the most telling clue—besides the teal van with blood on it and in it—was found inside a plastic laundry basket: a green, long-sleeved uniform shirt with a Border Patrol patch on the shoulder.


Even more peculiarly, while sorting through Albert’s personal possessions on a bureau in his bedroom, they found some other patches, stashed inside a little drawer with jewelry and other odds and ends: a couple of patches promoting the Minutemen. One script, wrapped around an American flag, read: “Undocumented American: I Survived The Minuteman Project 2005: Border Patrol.” The other depicted a Revolutionary War–era militiaman in a tricornered hat who was pointing like Uncle Sam, with a script reading: “Minutemen Saved America Once: We Can Again: Secure Our Nation’s Borders.”


These were not the usual possessions of Spanish-speaking Latinos in rural Arizona.


The teal van, the blood inside it, the Border Patrol shirt, and the weaponry—especially the presence of an AK-47 similar to the one found on the stove in the Flores home—probably comprised enough evidence to take Gaxiola into custody on suspicion of murder. However, Gaxiola was also a convicted felon with a record; his mere possession of the guns was enough to make an arrest on weapons charges. So the officers made the arrest and transported him to Tucson; the next day he made bail and was released. In the meantime, they confiscated his cell phone.


One of the detectives started reading a string of text messages from the early morning hours of May 30 from someone named White.


Gaxiola had texted White at 1:33 in the morning: “Cops on scene. Lay low.”


He had gotten a message back in short order: “No worries. All good. Just relax. Competition gone.”


The sender named “White,” it soon transpired, was a woman named Shawna Forde, using a cell phone from Washington State but sending the messages from a cell station in Arivaca.


Suddenly this was no longer a case involving a simple drug-related home invasion. Because Local deputies knew about Shawna Forde: she had made something of a local splash over the last couple of years, showing up in their desert towns with her own special offshoot of the Minutemen.


They called themselves Minuteman American Defense, and they were one of the more active Minuteman organizations still running border watches in Arizona. They also were noteworthy because Forde was especially fond of vicious race-baiting and incendiary rhetoric, and she was skilled at attracting media attention. A border watch she had overseen the previous October, in a section of the Altar Valley only a few miles away from Arivaca, had attracted international documentary filmmakers and a broad array of reporters and photographers.


Detectives asked Albert Gaxiola why Forde went by the nickname White.


“Because she hates every ethnicity except Caucasians,” he told them.
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Vigilance on the Border
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The Minuteman movement that grabbed national headlines in the first decade of the twenty-first century was not a spontaneous eruption of border nativism, as the media would often portray it. Rather, it was the direct offspring of the border militias of the 1990s, which were the stepchild of the Klan Border Watches of the 1980s, which in turn were modeled on a 1960s vigilante movement calling itself, ironically, the Minutemen.


These 1960s Minutemen of course were not the original Revolutionary War heroes, famed for their rapid responses to military action. Rather, this was another right-wing vigilante organization claiming to be a big “neighborhood watch”—watching out, then, for Communists—and it had similarly grabbed national headlines for a brief while. It had not ended well.


These earlier Minutemen were the brainchild of a Missouri biochemist named Robert DePugh, who had made a small fortune selling a popular vitamin for dogs. In 1960 he began organizing fellow archconservatives, who were fearful of a Communist takeover of America, into paramilitary watch groups that could provide on-the-ground response by ordinary Americans in the event of a revolutionary coup or invasion, monitoring events in their hometowns. “On a local basis we feel we’re in a better position to know our friends and neighbors” than the FBI, DePugh explained. Like the latter-day militiamen, these Minutemen also conducted paramilitary training sessions in the woods and promoted a broad panoply of conspiracy theories. And they ultimately came apart because of the violent, unstable personalities who not only joined the movement but led it.


DePugh’s Minutemen believed not only that government had been infiltrated at its highest levels by Communists but that a Communist takeover was virtually inevitable; therefore, they told their believers to arm themselves with whatever weaponry would be effective as a counterforce when the takeover occurred. DePugh, a onetime associate of John Birch Society founder Robert Welch before being dropped from the Society for his radicalism, also instructed his followers to harass “the enemy” and compiled at his headquarters a list of 1,500 people he identified as members of the “Communist hidden government,” with the intent to assassinate them in the event of the Communist coup. He also made up a list of twenty congressmen he’d like to see dead.


One Minuteman—an adherent named Keith Gilbert, who years later would become a notorious fixture in the northern Idaho neo-Nazi scene—was arrested in 1965 with a load of 1,400 pounds of TNT he later explained was intended to blow up the stage at that year’s Anti-Defamation League convention in Los Angeles, during the keynote speech by the Reverend Martin Luther King Jr. The Minutemen were also connected to an October 1966 plot, broken up by the FBI in New York City, to bomb three summer camps operated by liberal East Coast organizations. Illegal caches of weapons and ammunition linked to Minutemen kept popping up around the countryside.


Then DePugh himself got into trouble. In 1966, just as he was attempting to move into the political arena by forming a right-wing entity called the Patriotic Party, DePugh was arrested and then convicted on a variety of felony firearms violations and sentenced to four years in prison. DePugh fought the conviction on appeals. A year later, a group of seven Minutemen were arrested by the FBI in the small Seattle suburb of Redmond, Washington, and charged with plotting to set off a bomb at the Redmond city hall while simultaneously detonating another at the local power station, thereby creating a major distraction while they took out police communications. The plan then called for the gang to rob three Redmond banks.


DePugh was implicated in the plot and went into hiding but was caught a few months later in Truth or Consequences, New Mexico. He was arrested and charged in the Redmond plot. Five of the seven Seattle plotters were charged, and all five were convicted. DePugh, convicted in September 1970, wound up serving four years out of a ten-year sentence on the original firearms charges, but by then, his career in politics was in the ash heap. He later tried to resuscitate his ambitions by heading up an ultraconservative organization called the Committee of 10 Million, but the numbers fell well short of those suggested by the group’s name. DePugh spent a few more years in prison again in the 1990s, after he was convicted on a morals charge for sexual exploitation of a minor. He died in 2009.


DePugh gave a new shape to the idea of white-citizen vigilantes that had long been part of the extremist right’s approach to politics, since at least the days of the Ku Klux Klan. DePugh’s idea—white-citizen militias guarding against threats to their political supremacy—became the new focus of far-right organizing. Among the people paying attention were David Duke and Tom Metzger.
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It was a classic media circus: TV crews and newspaper photographers out on the desert borderlands, crowded around the small cluster of border watchers, vying for a chance to interview the handful of participants, dutifully recording the bellicose warnings of their leaders regarding the dangers of illegal immigration. You could count eight times as many journalists as vigilantes.


The year was 1977, and it was the first organized anti-immigrant border watch. The leaders: David Duke and his revived Knights of the Ku Klux Klan.


At the time, Duke was riding the crest of a wave of media attention. He had first made headlines in the early 1970s by protesting on Louisiana campuses dressed in Nazi garb and then declaring himself the business-suited new face of a revamped Klan, scrubbed and polished for modern consumption. He was featured in segments on 60 Minutes and appeared on Tom Snyder’s Tomorrow show after challenging Snyder—who had blasted Duke publicly—to let him have his say. Afterward, Duke crowed: “We bested Tom Snyder. The show gave me national exposure and made it much easier to get my ideals across to many more people. And that’s what it’s all about.”


The idea of an anti-immigration border watch was actually hatched by Duke’s Klan lieutenant in California, another neo-Nazi named Tom Metzger. But following in the wake of other successful publicity stunts by the Klan, Duke seized on the idea and made it into another media event.


He arrived in California to great media fanfare on October 16, 1977, at the immigration offices on the US border crossing at San Ysidro, California. Surrounded by a small phalanx of Klansmen, Duke had toured the facility while outside a large crowd of antiracist protesters threw rocks and eggs.


Asked to explain his purpose, Duke said, “We believe very strongly white people are becoming second-class citizens. When I think of America, I think of a white country.”


In Sacramento a few days later, he held a press conference announcing a “Klan Border Watch” that would supposedly enlist somewhere between five hundred and a thousand Klansmen in a vigilante patrol stretching from Texas to California. Again, he was met by a large crowd of protesters. The ensuing scenes attracted more press attention, so that by the day of the event, national and state media alike were flocking to cover it.


On October 25, the border-watching contingent arrived at their announced site—the border crossing near the town of Dulzura in rural San Diego County—in three sedans with hand-painted “Klan Border Watch” signs attached to the sides. When they emerged, Duke was accompanied by a small cluster of Klansmen; all told, his contingent comprised seven people—massively outnumbered by the press corps alone, not to mention the large crowd of protesters also drawn to the site.


Duke spent the day either being interviewed by reporters or talking on a citizens’ band radio, supposedly relaying information about border-crosser sightings, provided by the “hundreds” of Klansmen he claimed were participating, to eagerly awaiting federal agents. Duke announced that the information had produced “thousands” of arrests. Most of the media reported his claims dutifully—even though it shortly emerged that in fact there had been no increase in border-crossing arrests that day.


Duke later mused for readers of his Klan paper, The Crusader, on how easy it had all been: “When a hundred reporters are gathered around hanging on every word, when they help you accomplish your objectives by their own misguided sensationalism, if indeed it was a media stunt, it was by their own presence an admission that it was a very brilliant one,” he said.


The die had been cast.
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David Duke’s star quickly faded. The womanizing and mishandling of funds that had become part of his schtick soon alienated many of his fellow right-wingers, and gradually the media lost interest in him too, at least until the late 1980s and early ’90s, when he briefly resurrected his career as a Louisiana legislator and gubernatorial candidate. That star, too, burned out in short order, and eventually Duke’s personal foibles caught up with him in a serious way: In 2002, he was convicted of mail fraud for bilking his followers out of hundreds of thousands of dollars and spending the money to feed his gambling addiction. He served a fifteen-month prison term and now seems to spend most of his time in Europe, organizing white-supremacist groups there.


Immigration remained a staple issue for the radical right through much of the 1980s, though it was pushed to a back burner as the white-supremacist movement focused, in the early 1980s, on creating a “white homeland” in the inland Northwest, largely revolving around the Aryan Nations organization headquartered in Hayden Lake, Idaho. This reached its apotheosis in 1984, when an Aryan follower (and onetime Minuteman) named Robert Mathews formed a neo-Nazi action group called the Order, which by the end of its yearlong rampage had assassinated Denver radio talk-show host Alan Berg, committed nearly a dozen robberies of banks and armored cars, and embarked on a counterfeiting scheme. It all ended in a blaze of gunfire, tear gas, and smoke when FBI agents cornered Mathews at a hideout on Whidbey Island, Washington, and he refused to come out after a flare set it afire.


The Order turned out to be pretty much a disaster for the white-supremacist right, largely because Mathews had drawn so many leaders of the movement into his web, handing out his ill-gotten cash to fund their activities. Federal authorities charged all of these people with conspiracy, and even though the charges eventually failed, the men who had been hauled before the courts recognized that they had a problem: as long as they were going to be urging their followers to take violent action, they could not afford to have affiliations with the people who would actually carry it out.


Thus was born “leaderless resistance,” a concept developed and popularized by Aryan Nations leader Louis Beam. In a couple of essays on the subject written in 1983 and 1992, Beam explained that the traditional hierarchical organization employed by the old racist right was dangerous for any kind of insurgency, especially in “technologically advanced societies where electronic surveillance can often penetrate the structure, revealing its chain of command.” He proposed instead a leaderless organizational structure, wherein “individuals and groups operate independently of each other, and never report to a central headquarters or single leader for direction or instruction, as would those who belong to a typical pyramid organization.” The role of leadership is not to issue directives or to pay operatives, but rather to provide the larger inspiration and agenda for small cells or “lone wolf” individuals to follow, acting independently and on their own initiative.


Always looking for ways to return to the mainstream of American politics, white nationalists by the early 1990s had begun rebranding themselves as Christian Patriots, which was shortened by 1994 into simply the Patriot movement. It was largely the same toxic brew of right-wing conspiracism, xenophobia, and scapegoating that had always been their recipe for recruitment, but scrubbed of overt racism and focused on combating a looming “New World Order” in which global government would overtake the United States and enslave the nation.


Following the leaderless resistance concept, the Patriot movement’s chief strategy revolved around forming citizen militias—and indeed, as the movement gained traction and attracted media attention, it became largely known as the “militia movement.” Militia cells formed in every state of the union, all of them independent entities, all of them working toward the same, anti–New World Order agenda. They often had their own regional orientation: in the Northwest, militias were typically expressions of anti-environmental backlash; in Alaska, they revolved around efforts at seceding from the Union; in places like Michigan and Florida and Alabama, the paranoia was all about gun ownership.


But the issue of illegal immigration had remained a staple of the Patriot agenda, so in border states, particularly Arizona, California, and Texas, the focus was firmly on stanching the flow of Hispanic immigrants into their states. Border militias became popular for these Patriots, along with the usual mix of conspiracy theories and ethnic fearmongering.


The most prominent of these border-militia Patriots was a retired California businessman named Glenn Spencer. Beginning in 1992, Spencer’s original organization, Voices of Citizens Together, worked tirelessly to stop the flow of Hispanic immigrants into the country. VCT was a leading proponent of the 1994 California initiative to deny educational, health, and other benefits to undocumented immigrants and their children, Proposition 187 (which was approved by voters but later invalidated by the courts).


In 1995, Spencer began spreading his message through a strong Web presence, particularly his site, American Patrol. Much of its news was dedicated to reporting on crimes committed by Latinos, as evidence connecting immigration with criminal activity. But there was also a steady theme: Spencer picked up the old Klan Border Watch concept and repackaged it by promoting the idea of border militias, along with the usual panoply of New World Order conspiracy theories. American Patrol was rife with openly bigoted contempt aimed at Latinos, embodied in the cartoon that depicted a character urinating on a picture of a prominent Latino activist. Spencer also penned missives to other publications, including a 1996 letter to the Los Angeles Times claiming that “the Mexican culture is based on deceit. Chicanos and Mexicanos lie as a means of survival.”


Besides border militias, Spencer became devoted to his own pet conspiracy theory, promoted on the American Patrol website, in his newsletter, and on his radio show: namely, that a cadre of Latino radicals, in conjunction with the Mexican government, is conspiring to take back the American Southwest by invading the region with hordes of immigrants and then reclaiming it for Mexico as part of a greater nation called Aztlan. It became known as the Reconquista theory, a name from Spanish history that Spencer requisitioned for his own purposes. The basis of the theory is a set of obscure documents written by Chicano activists in the late 1960s calling for a reimagined America. Some of these manifestoes were associated with the founding of the student Latino organization Movimiento Estudiantil Chicano de Aztlan, better known as MEChA. Moreover, the MEChA constitution’s preamble calls for the “self-determination of the Chicana/Chicano people and the liberation of Aztlan.”


In Spencer’s retelling, an idea aimed at multicultural solidarity was transformed into a racist and exclusionist enterprise, and an organization better known for bake sales and campus socials became the equivalent of the Ku Klux Klan. MEChA, Spencer claimed, was fundamentally racist. As early as October 1996 he was running articles with titles like “MEChA calls for the Liberation of ‘Aztlan,’” which warned: “Those who scoff at the idea of a Mexican takeover of the Southwestern United States don’t understand history and they underestimate the Mexicans.”


American Patrol continued to make a fetish out of the Reconquista theory and MEChA in subsequent years, embodied by the section devoted to what it called “The Scourge of MEChA,” not to mention the running coverage to this day of anything it can attribute to the Aztlan takeover. Spencer himself became so devoted to his theory that in 2001 he had a copy of his videotape, Bonds of Our Nations—which lays out the Reconquista plans in graphic detail—hand-delivered to every member of Congress. The woman making the delivery was Betina McCann, the fiancée of a notorious neo-Nazi named Steven Barry.


Eventually Spencer’s theory made it into mainstream media via the right-wing blogosphere. In August 2003 bloggers Michelle Malkin and Glenn “Instapundit” Reynolds, in an effort to harm the California gubernatorial candidacy of Latino politician Cruz Bustamante, picked up Spencer’s claims about MEChA whole off his web postings and began running them credulously, claiming that MEChA was a racist organization of scheming, America-hating radicals. Reynolds went so far as to attack MEChA members as “fascist hatemongers.” On Fox News, Bill O’Reilly and his fellow hosts repeated the claim and accused Bustamante, a former MEChA member, of dallying with racists. Bustamante wound up a distant second to Arnold Schwarzenegger in the election.


By then, Spencer had moved from California to Arizona and expanded his operations, buying a large ranch not far from the border and setting up watches for crossers on his land. He had been drawn there by a number of other ranchers who were becoming angry about the volumes of immigrants crossing their properties and had decided to take matters into their own hands. And he brought with him his penchant for hateful, bigoted rhetoric.
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Roger Barnett was an Arizona rancher who worked some twenty-two thousand acres—most of it leased federal land—near Sierra Vista and Douglas. He was profiled in 2000 by Time magazine’s Tim McGirk, for whom Barnett was emblematic of how “anger against the growing flood of 1 million illegal immigrants a year is rising fast among independent-spirited, gun-toting residents in the borderlands of Arizona, Texas and New Mexico.” McGirk described Barnett’s methods of dealing with border crossers:




        With his binoculars, an M-16 automatic rifle and his sheepdog Mikey, Barnett sometimes tracks a group of illegals for miles, following their footprints in the sand and bits of clothing snagged on the mesquite thorns. In the summer it’s harder for his dog to track them; the incandescent heat sears away their scent. “They move across the desert like a centipede, 40 or 50 people at a time,” says Barnett. Once he catches them, Barnett radios the border patrol to cart them off his land. “You always get one or two that are defiant,” says Barnett, who chuckles, remembering an incident a few weeks back. “One fellow tried to get up and walk away, saying we’re not Immigration. So I slammed him back down and took his photo. ‘Why’d you do that?’ the illegal says, all surprised. ‘Because we want you to go home with a before picture and an after picture—that is, after we beat the s__ outta you.’ You can bet he started behavin’ then.”





This kind of violent talk and threatening demeanor became the standard mode of operation for the “citizen border watch” organizers who followed in Barnett’s wake. Indeed, the border watchers’ rhetoric so starkly dehumanized and demonized Latinos that their similarity to hate groups became inescapable. Perhaps that was because it was attracting white supremacists to their cause.


In May 2000, Glenn Spencer and his Proposition 187 cohort, Barbara Coe of the nativist California Coalition for Immigration Reform, cosponsored a public gathering in Sierra Vista revolving around Roger Barnett and the rising border issues. Also in attendance were two members of David Duke’s organization, the National Organization For European American Rights (NOFEAR), and two members of an Arkansas Klan group—though of course Spencer and his local cosponsors all claimed they were unaware of their presence.


The rhetoric was in keeping with such an audience, however. In her speech to the gathering, Coe declared that government border policies were an abject failure that had forced ranchers to “defend our borders and defend themselves from illegal alien savages who kill their livestock, and slit their watchdogs’ throats . . . burglarize their homes and threaten the physical safety of their loved ones.”


The gathering inspired the formation of one of the first and most prominent border militias, an outfit called Ranch Rescue that was run by a Texas man named Torre John “Jack” Foote. It claimed chapters in all the southern border states and Colorado as well. Foote explained in a 2003 interview with the white-supremacist website Stormfront that Ranch Rescue’s first “field mission” took place in October 2000 on Barnett’s ranch and that it had become intensively active ever since: “We’re still seeing hordes—mobs—of criminal aliens pour across this privately-owned property, and the best thing we can expect from our own government is that they will do everything possible to aid the pro-criminal alien groups.”


That first operation advertised for recruits by calling for would-be border watchers to “come have fun in the sun” while volunteers hunted “hordes of criminal aliens.” Men with military and weapons training were preferred. Recruits were urged to bring their RVs, guard dogs, and trained attack dogs. Once on site, volunteers were given dire instructions warning of various lethal threats to their well-being, urging them to do whatever they needed to protect themselves. On patrol, they equipped themselves with an assortment of weapons, including high-powered assault rifles, as well as night-vision devices, two-way radios, flares, machetes, and all-terrain vehicles.


When accused of harboring racist motives, Foote responded with a peculiarly vehement bigotry: “You and the vast majority of your fellow dog turds are ignorant, uneducated, and desperate for a life in a decent nation because the one you live in is nothing but a pile of dog shit made up of millions of worthless little dog turds like yourself,” Foote wrote to a Mexican American who accused him of racism. “You stand around your entire lives, whining about how bad things are in your dog of a nation, waiting for the dog to stick its ass under our fence and shit each one of you into our back yards.”


In March 2002, Foote and another ex-Californian, Casey Nethercott, set up a border watch on the Texas ranch of a member named Joe Sutton and dubbed it Operation Falcon. The idea was to use the Sutton ranch as a base for hunting illegal border crossers. That was when everything started to turn sideways for Ranch Rescue.


Nethercott already had quite the track record. A big blond man, he had made his living for a few years in California as a bounty hunter but had run afoul of the law when he wrongly apprehended the son of the chief of police in Riverside. He wound up serving prison time for felony assault and false imprisonment. He had therefore lost the legal right to carry a gun—but of course, he owned and used several as part of his Ranch Rescue work.


On March 18, two would-be immigrants from El Salvador named Fatima Leiva and Edwin Mancia made the mistake of crossing the Suttons’ ranch in the early morning hours and found themselves confronted by Ranch Rescue members, who chased them into the brush. Joe Sutton himself reportedly fired numerous gunshots in their direction, shouting obscenities and threatening to kill them. Eventually they were sniffed out by Casey Nethercott’s Rottweiler and yanked from the brush; Mancia was ordered to stand up and then was struck in the back of the head with a handgun. While he lay on the ground, Nethercott allowed the Rottweiler to attack Mancia, ripping his sweatshirt. The pair were interrogated and accused of being drug smugglers. After enduring an hour and a half of such abuse, they were handed over to authorities. They promptly filed criminal complaints against Nethercott and one of the other border watchers. Nethercott was also charged with a weapons violation for possessing a gun.


The lawsuits followed a year later. The whole gang from Joe Sutton’s ranch—including Jack Foote and Casey Nethercott—was sued the next June for civil rights violations by the two Salvadoran immigrants, represented by the Southern Poverty Law Center and the Mexican American Legal Defense and Educational Fund.


But Nethercott was just getting started. In early 2003, he purchased a seventy-acre ranch not far from Roger Barnett’s in Cochise County, Arizona, and he promptly began converting it into an armed compound. He called it Camp Thunderbird. His neighbors were furious and filed numerous complaints against Nethercott for violating various county land-use ordinances.


Glenn Spencer was already a neighbor, by a matter of months. In September 2002, he announced he had given up on California: “California is a lawless, lost state,” he told reporters. “There’s nothing I can do for California. It is finished.” Spencer also recommended white flight: “White Americans should get out of California—now, before it is too late to salvage the equity they have in their homes and the value of their businesses.” He bought a property in an exclusive Cochise County neighborhood and set up his revamped American Border Patrol (ABP) organization there, with an assist from Roger Barnett and his friends, who introduced Spencer around to the locals, particularly the county’s law enforcement officers.


Things turned rocky in August 2003, when Spencer shot up a neighbor’s garage with a .357 rifle after hearing “suspicious” noises in his backyard. He eventually pleaded guilty to reckless endangerment and was fined $2,500 and given a year’s probation. In the meantime, his upscale neighbors at Pueblo del Sol slapped him with a complaint for running his business from his home—which violated several of the subdivision’s covenants. So he gave up and moved his operation to another location.


Spencer’s plan was different from the others: his ABP was more of a hightech affair, in contrast to his fellow border watchers’ boots-on-the-ground approach. Spencer and his volunteers operated remote-controlled airplanes equipped with cameras and other monitoring equipment, and he flew his own Cessna over border areas with similar equipment. He also sent out volunteer “hawkeyes” to monitor border crossers’ movements with video cameras and other high-tech equipment.


Casey Nethercott, however, favored the border-militia approach that Spencer had advocated previously. He and his Ranch Rescue cohorts built a base of operations at Camp Thunderbird, outside of Douglas, Arizona, that was a militiaman’s dream: watchtowers, bunkers, barracks, a helicopter landing pad, an indoor firing range. In November 2003, his neighbors filed two complaints about the work, alleging various zoning violations.


It was kind of a bad month for Nethercott: on the thirteenth, FBI agents came out to the Douglas ranch and arrested him as fugitive for having fled the weapons charge in Texas. Jack Foote told reporters that Nethercott’s lawyer was trying to get the weapons charges dropped. In the meantime, he said, he and his volunteers were busy building a home base for Ranch Rescue.


Their activities created fears that not only might they inflict violence on hapless border crossers, but at some point they could create an international incident—especially since they had begun to threaten the Mexican military with violence should any of its soldiers wander over the border, as was known to happen from time to time. In February 2004, Foote issued a warning that the next time a Mexican soldier set foot on their ranch, he would be fired on: “Two in the chest and one in the head,” he said.


Douglas’s mayor, Ray Borane, worried that they would create a cross-border shootout: “This isn’t a game,” he said. “That’s the thing that has always worried me, that these people would cause an international incident and not only hinder relations with Mexico, but that they’d make this area become a hotbed for other organizations like that.”


Over the next few months, though, Foote and Nethercott had a falling-out, and by April, the Douglas ranch was no longer the home base for Ranch Rescue. Instead, in spring 2004 Nethercott announced he was starting up a border-watch group of his own called the Arizona Guard, which its website described as “an Organized Militia dedicated to the defense of American Patriotism and to help local ranchers and citizens defend property from illegal alien activity and drug running operations.”


His new recruitment chief was Kalen Riddle, a twenty-two-year-old from Aberdeen, Washington. On his own website, Riddle declared himself a “National Socialist” and ran pictures of himself in Nazi uniform, embellished with swastika armbands, brandishing a rifle. Two of his favorite things, he declared, are “ethnic cleansing and weapon making.” Riddle requested that “any WN [White Nationalist] volunteer is asked to keep WP [White Power] or Third Reich imagry (sic) to a minimum and not to talk to any press.”


Nethercott denied that anyone in his organization was a Nazi. “When words come up like hate, white supremacy and Nazism, and genocide, those are words that are made for people to inflame people,” he said in a local radio interview. “None of those apply to us.”


On August 31, 2004, three Border Patrol agents tried to pull Nethercott over as part of a smuggling investigation. Instead of cooperating, he took them on a long, slow-speed chase to his ranch, where he got out at the gate and phoned inside for help. The Patrol officers claimed he threatened them with assault and attempted to intimidate them, but they drove away at the end of the tense standoff.


A couple of weeks later, Nethercott was pulled over in a Safeway parking lot in Douglas by FBI agents, intent on arresting him on charges of assaulting a federal officer. Kalen Riddle was with him, and he was armed. During the arrest, an agent said he saw Riddle make a move toward his waist, so he shot him. Riddle was critically injured and spent several weeks recovering in a hospital. Casey Nethercott was hauled off and jailed on the assault charge. He remained there for five months, but he was later acquitted of the assault charge. (Eventually Nethercott would serve nearly five years in prison for the felony weapons-possession charge in Texas.)


Jack Foote told a local TV reporter that he and Ranch Rescue had severed their ties with Nethercott back in April over his increasingly evident racial views. “We’re all better off with Nethercott in a cage, welded shut,” Foote sneered.


Within the year, however, Ranch Rescue was finished—especially after the courts ruled in favor of the two Salvadoran emigrants, Fatima Leiva and Edwin Mancia. With the help of their SPLC attorneys, the pair obtained judgments totaling $1 million against Foote and Nethercott. They also obtained a $100,000 out-of-court settlement from Joe Sutton. In August 2005, Casey Nethercott’s Douglas ranch was seized and deeded to the Salvadorans. Camp Thunderbird became an ordinary ranch in the desert again. Jack Foote closed up the Ranch Rescue shop and shut down its website.


But by then, they had become yesterday’s news. The shiny new border watch on the block—calling themselves the Minutemen—had become the latest media darling.


||


Chris Simcox liked to pose for the media with a pistol down the front of his pants. In certain video appearances, too, when he was first attracting attention, you could see him shove his handgun under the front waistband of his blue jeans. He probably thought it made him look like a devil-may-care Western outlaw type. Of course, all it really did was brand him the outsider, the clueless city dude from California he always was in his adopted Arizona hometown.


People in the rural West—especially places like Tombstone, birthplace of the Western gunfighter mythos—grow up around guns. They’re not playthings here. They’re tools, necessities of life, but dangerous ones you need to respect. Only a damned fool would stick a gun down the front of his pants, unless he’s courting a high voice. It’s the best way in the world to blow your own dick off.


So when Simcox would swagger around the Cochise County countryside with a gun down the front of his jeans and the adoring media in tow, the locals would smirk. Now that was a hapless rube—even if he was talking about an issue that concerned them.


Of course, it was the gunfighter mythos that attracted a guy like Simcox to Tombstone in the first place. The little tourist town is a kind of cultural epicenter, since the famous gunfight that broke out on a vacant lot in the town on October 26, 1881, between two warring factions: the Yankee Wyatt Earp and his two brothers, along with Doc Holliday, on one side, and a cluster of outlaw, ex-Confederate cowboys like Billy Clanton and Frank and Tom McClaury, who wound up on the Other Side at the showdown’s end. The incident gave birth to one of America’s most deeply cherished and fervently embraced Western myths, that of the mano a mano showdown at high noon, with only the tumbleweeds daring to share the street.


The reality, as always, is much more mundane: the Gunfight at the OK Corral is the only recorded such “showdown at high noon” in all of Western history. There certainly were plenty of gunfights in the Old West, but the vast majority of them occurred over or under poker tables or at barside, with the occasional armed fight spilling out into the street. Actually, the most common form of homicide by far in those days involved being dry-gulched in an ambush by whoever wanted to steal your possessions or mining claim.


The myth, on the other hand, is much more exciting and crowd-pleasing, not to mention profitable. And so now during tourist season in Tombstone—which is pretty much all year, except for the summertime, when only Gila monsters and rattlesnakes are out at midday—a group of paid actors dress up every day as the Earp brothers and their erstwhile victims and meet in an OK Corral in the middle of town, reenacting the archetypal Western shootout for the edification and entertainment of the city slickers.


When Chris Simcox first arrived in Tombstone in 2002, he found work as one of the actors. It was a way of staying afloat until he could get his feet on the ground. He had been drawn by the myth, and now he was on a mission to transform it into a kind of living reality.


A few months before, he had thrown away his previous life as a schoolteacher in California, moved out to the Arizona desert, and had an epiphany, all because of the terrorist attacks on New York and Washington, DC, on September 11, 2001. Traumatized by repeatedly watching the collapse of the Twin Towers, Simcox had sold off his belongings and moved out to camp in the Sonoran desert, where he witnessed all kinds of human and drug trafficking—or so he was fond of repeatedly telling reporters in later years. Concluding that the porous nature of the Mexican border posed a post–9/11 security threat to America, he had decided to pour all his efforts into doing something about it. That was his basic story, and it eventually became a kind of mythos unto itself.


In reality, Chris Simcox’s life had been falling apart for awhile. Simcox grew up in rural Illinois and Kentucky; after high school, he moved briefly to New York in pursuit of a baseball career and then moved out to California with his first wife, Deborah Crews, who harbored ambitions as an actress, and their daughter. Simcox himself would later suggest he had tried his hand at acting too, but he also went to school, getting a degree in education from LA’s Pacific Oaks College.


Eventually, he found work as a teacher in Los Angeles, first in a ganginfested high school in South Central LA, before he found more sedate work as a kindergarten teacher at a prestigious private school called Wildwood. He also divorced Crews and married an African American woman named Kim Dunbar, who later gave birth to their son. He was a popular teacher, but his colleagues at Wildwood recalled Simcox as something of a condescending know-it-all who prided himself on being up to date on the latest educational techniques and letting everyone else know it too: “He had this real holier-than-thou attitude, like he was so far above the other teachers they should be grateful he was even discussing his methods with them,” one of them told a reporter. “He was insulting.”


Some of them also witnessed a dark side to his sunny public persona. His then-teenage daughter from his first marriage came to live with him in Los Angeles in 1998, and Simcox got her a babysitting gig with one of his Wildwood colleagues. One night, she showed up suddenly at the colleague’s house, visibly upset, seeking shelter: she claimed her father had tried to sexually molest her. Simcox later claimed he had just tried to give her a leg massage and she had gotten the wrong idea. No charges were filed. She returned to New York and her mother and broke off contact with her father. (The Southern Poverty Law Center reporters who obtained this information from the girl’s mother, and confirmed it with two of Simcox’s ex-colleagues, were stonewalled by Simcox when they confronted him with this information.)
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